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Randy W. Whited 

 

 

I hope every reader of this issue will be as pleased with the content as I am. Yet again, the members 
of the Society have come through and made this another Quarterly comprised soley of member 
submissions.  

 

I wish to thank everyone who has contributed (or will soon do so) their work and please keep up the 
great efforts. 

 

 

 

Sincerely, 
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Killed by a Cowboy  
Nancy R. Stevens  

Edgar, b. 20 May, 1861;; killed by a cowboy in 
1883.i On Sunday, 27 May 1883, 21 year old 
Edgar Crandall went into Ainsworth, Brown, 
Nebraska, from his home six miles northwest 
of town. He was an innocent bystander when 
a drunken brawl spilled onto the street in front 
of one of the saloons. Zachariah N. Alderman, 
one of the men in the fight, pulled a gun and 
fired a shot that hit Edgar Crandall in the belly. 
Edgar ran for a block before collapsing on the 
street. He died two days later. ii 

Edgar E. Crandall was born 20 May 1861iii in 
Harmony, Bad Ax (later renamed Vernon 
County), Wisconsin, to Jane Coburn and 
Ezekial Crandall. Edgar was the youngest of 
seven children, the first five born in New York 
before the family moved to Wisconsin. iv 
Although Edgar's oldest sister Sarah Jane 
married the year before he was born, v her 
husband Calvin Hagerman enlisted in the 
Union army before they were married and 
Sarah Jane likely continued living with her 
parents until he returned home in 1864.vi She 
would have helped to care for Edgar during 
the first years of his life. 

Edgar spent about the first fifteen years of his 
life on the land his father homesteaded in 
Harmony, Vernon, Wisconsin. Edgar, his 
parents, and five siblings lived in a 14 by 16 
foot one story frame house. vii Ezekial Crandall 
was a farmer and his older sons worked on 
the farm. viii Edgar attended school until he 
was 18.ix  

Edgar was still a teenager when his father 
died between 1875 and 1880.x The family 
was having financial problems before the 
death of Ezekial Crandall and may have lost 

the homestead. xi At the time of the 1880 
census, 18 year old Edgar and his widowed 
mother are living with his brother Myron in 
Richland, Chickasaw, Iowa. Edgar is listed with 
an occupation of farmer, probably working on 
his brother's farm. xii Sarah Jane and Calvin 
Hagerman live nearby with their growing 
family, including a son named Edgar born in 
1877 before they left Wisconsin. xiii  

Sarah Jane and Calvin moved to Nebraska in 
1880 and to the territory that would become 
Brown County in 1882.xiv The Hagermans and 
Crandalls may have made these moves 
together. Calvin Hagerman and Myron 
Crandall filed homestead applications in 1881 
for adjoining land outside Ainsworth. xv  

The first white settlements in eastern 
Nebraska were farming communities made up 
mostly of young couples with children. The 
first white settlements in western Nebraska 
were cattle ranches where conditions were 
less hospitable and males outnumbered 
females by larger numbers. Brown County in 
north central Nebraska is one of the places 
these two cultures came together. xvi  

Brown County was established in February 
1883 with the village of Ainsworth designated 
as the county seat. When Nannie Osborne 
platted her land on the west side of Ainsworth 
into lots that year, she provided sites for two 
churches. xvii The first teaching certificate was 
also issued by the county that year. xviii These 
institutions most associated with 
homesteading families shared the village with 
two saloons that were open seven days a 
week. The cowboys who came into town had a 
reputation for carrying weapons, drinking 
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excessively, and behavior that was reckless if 
not criminal. xix  

In May 1883 the Crandalls and Hagermans 
had made it through the first winter in their 
new homes. Both families were likely still 
living in sod houses as they planted trees and 
made other improvements to the land 
necessary for survival. xx Sarah Jane gave birth 
to her eighth child one week after Edgar was 
shot. xxi  

Zachariah N. Alderman was indicted for first 
degree murder on 30 November 1883 by the 
grand jury for the district court of the 
Nebraska ninth judicial district. The shooting 

of Edgar Crandall was the first murder case in 
Brown County. Eighteen men are listed as 
witnesses in the indictment. The indictment 
repeated the phrase  and of 
deliberate and premeditated  five 
times. xxii The trial was delayed for almost a 
year so that Zachariah Alderman could 

 the attendance of an absent  
xxiii On 11 September 1884 Zachariah 
Alderman was found guilty of manslaughter. 
xxiv He was transferred to the Nebraska State 
Penitentiary in Lincoln where he served seven 
years of his ten year sentence .xxv   
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Stromberg Family Group Sheet 
Kay Dunlap Boyd 

  

  
Stromberg Family 

Husband: Peter (Per) Anders Strömberg 

Father: Per Gustaf Strömberg, goldsmith 

Mother: Inga Helena(Lena) Strömberg 

Wife: Maria Margaretha Wigren 

C H I L DR E N 

1 Name: Hildegard Ida Constantia Stromberg 

2 Name: Per Gustaf Reinhold Stromberg 

Spouse: Emma Andersson 

3 Name: Philip(Alfred) Strömberg 

Spouse: Maria Lovisa Carlsson 

4 Name: Amanda Rosalia Maria Strömberg 

5 Name: Carl Knut Strömberg 

Spouse: Clara Charlotta(Lotten) Hahrstrom Name: Richard Eustachius StrömbergSpouse: Adelina 
Nilsdotter Gök  
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MURDER, FAMILY SECRETS AND RESOLUTIONS  
A FAMILY HISTORY NARRATIVE  

Robert Foley 

Apparently, there are some things families just 

murder of my Aunt Evelyn was one of those 
things.  My mother (the oldest of five 
orphaned girls) only said that Aunt Evelyn had 
been shot by her boyfriend on the streets of 
Kansas City.  And that the boyfriend then shot 
himself.  I was only a young boy when these 
questions came up, and I suppose I was 
satisfied with her answers.  But no one in the 
family ever really mentioned much about it, 
other than to describe my aunt as a very 
special person.  I always thought of her in the 
grown up sense, visualizing her in much the 
same way I visualized my living aunts.  They 
were all mature adults, and my mind pictured 
her that way as well.  But we all grow up and 
today, over half a century later, the picture 
becomes much clearer, and the individual is 
fleshed out.  I now find myself wondering what 
might have been. 

Aunt Evelyn was murdered by the man she 
planned to marry.  Nothing was ever said of 
him, or of the time and circumstances of the 
murder.  Beyond this, my knowledge of her 
was quite limited.  I was aware that the family 
had been orphaned in 1921 with the death of 
their father (their mother had died three years 
earlier).  Evelyn was only eight years old at the 

event of his death, he had arranged for their 
care as well as keeping them together.  So in 
1922, six children left their home in the 
Mississippi River delta region of southeast 
Missouri.  They moved across the state to 
northwest Missouri, and became part of a 
larger community of orphaned children at the 

Odd Fellows Home (IOOF) on the outskirts of  
Liberty, Missouri.   

Evelyn apparently flourished in that 
community of children, and finished second in 
her high school graduating class at Liberty 
High School.  I knew that she then relocated to 
nearby Kansas City, where she became 
employed at the National Bellas Hess 
Company.  My mother worked there as well.  It 
was a large mail order company, and my 
mother described the young girls roller skating 
through the aisles, collecting goods and filling 
orders to be shipped to active customers.  But 
both my aunt and my mother were on the 
office staff.  And those are the few things that 
I knew about my Aunt Evelyn. 

I grew up in a home with few books (you may 
be wondering what this has to do with this 
narrative, but please be patient).  We 
subscribed to local newspapers, and both of 
my parents read them each day.  My mother 
occasionally purchased magazines, and I was 

books.  The only adult books in our household 
 Bible, an ancient 

dictionary, and a college zoology book with the 
name Joker written in the front.  Being an avid 
reader, I found the last book fascinating  
introducing me to the diversity of life on our 
planet.  It also contained an intriguing chapter 
on prehistoric life and early humans, subjects 
which would have an impact on my chosen 
profession.  I loved the book!  But on 
numerous occasions, I asked about the 
unusual name inside the front cover  Joker.  
It seemed an unlikely name.  Who had been 
the original owner of the book?  Neither of my 
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parents had been to college and none of my 
other relatives had either.  But Mother never 
answered and it was apparent even to a pre-
teen male, that in her evasiveness she was 
hiding something.  She simply said it was 
someone she had known in her earlier life.  
The mystery of the Joker remained.  

genealogist  one who has been generous 
enough with her time and intellect to help me 
flesh out my family history.  And now, the 
picture is much clearer, and the tragedy is 
much more complex that I earlier thought. 

Evelyn Mayne Dearlove was murdered on the 

1934 by a gunshot wound to her temple.  She 
was a month short of her 20th birthday.  She 
was not the adult I had pictured in my 
childhood memory.  She was a young girl with 

filled with dreams and hopes for the future, as 
many of us are at that stage in our lives.   

 had telephoned Miss 
Dearlove 
he was going to call on her.  Miss Dearlove 

arrived home shortly after eight and was met 
by the man she was engaged to.  He said, 

 

Two bullets were fired.  She was shot in the 
temple;; he shot himself in the mouth.  The 
revolver lay nearby with two exploded 
cartridges.  The young girl lay dead on the 
cement;; her life ended by the divinity student 
to whom she was engaged.   

But why?  It made no sense.  
No notes were left.  However, police then 

found a letter dated the previous Monday 
night, February 12th.  It read,  

 
today?  Are you keeping your chin up?  

You know I love you more than life itself.  If I 
 most of 

going to keep our noses clean.  Life is too 

will do yours.  Well, darling, keep your chin up, 
and remember I am yours.  Your baby, 

 

So now the pieces start coming together.  My 
wife  the genealogist  obtained the Record 
of Death as well as the Certificate of Death.  
On these forms, Bessie Dearlove (my mother) 
was listed as the Informant.  The Certificate of 
Death revealed little new information.  Much 
of the family background was already known.  
Evelyn Mayne Dearlove was one of five 
orphaned daughters of John and Maude Cave 
Dearlove.  The report further confirmed that 
she was killed by a shot to the temple.  Her 
death occurred in the early evening  of 

th, 1934.  But the 
Record of Death (a more obscure document) 
was much more revealing.  An autopsy had 
been performed and a Contributory Cause was 
filled in by the examiner.  The contributory 
cause?  Pregnancy!  The family secret was 
clearly revealed.  My teen-age aunt was killed 
by a young divinity student at William Jewell 
College in Liberty, Missouri because she was 
pregnant.  Apparently, he was unable to cope 
with the responsibilities and reality of the 
situation, and ended it with a murder and 
suicide.    

But other mysteries remained.  Remember the 
college zoology book with the name Joker 
written in the front.  The divinity student who 
took her life was Everett Jochum.  
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Jochum/Joker.  A cruel coincidence?  I think 
not.  I feel sure that Everett Jochum was the 
owner of the book which my mother had been 
so evasive about.  And the final mystery?  Did 
my mother ever reveal the entire story as to 

too much to pass on?  That is a mystery for 
which we will never have an answer.   

While writing this, I find myself more 
emotionally involved that I would have 
suspected when I began.  I feel both sad and 
angry.  I am sad that I never had the chance to 
talk with and laugh with, and be spoiled by 
this aunt as I had been by her surviving 
sisters.  I am sad and angry at the loss of what 
she might have been and what she might 
have contributed to society.  Her life seemed 
so promising at the age of 19.  I feel anger 
with a society in which mistakes such as these 
(an unmarried pregnancy) were viewed as a 
stigma not only on the individual, but to the 
families as well.  And I am most angry at 
Everett Jochum, who could not shake the 
trappings of his own self-centered world, and 
took the cowardly way out rather than face up 
to his own responsibilities, no matter how 
difficult they may have appeared.  He took a 

life of someone who was loved, and erased a 
part of my heritage. 

So I end this mystery with a sense of loss.  
And talking with many folks who are engaged 
in genealogical research, I think emotions 
such as these are a common and widely 
shared.  We not only view our family histories 
in a historical and academic sense, but we 
also become emotionally embroiled in the 
lives of these people  both real and imagined.  
But in retrospect, I think that this is a good 
thing.  It not only keeps their memories alive, 

and answers continue to pull us in?  For the 
answers and the questions, I thank my wife 

helping me frame my personal historical 
background.  She not only solved the mystery;; 
she enriched my family memories and brought 
my Aunt Evelyn back to life, if even for a short 
time. 

Quotations from:  The Kansas City Times (The 
Morning Kansas City Star), February 15th, 
1934 and the Kansas City Star, February 15th, 
1934.    

  
  



  

Austin Genealogical Society Quarterly, 51 (3)	
    Page 112 

A Visit to Germany 
Marsha Roose (nee Clinger) 

We have walked in the footprints of our 
genealogical history, discovering in the 
Odenwald of Germany a land of pastoral 
beauty and overwhelmingly warm people. My 
brother, Brian Clinger, and I undertook this 
journey as ambassadors for our family to the 
land of our Klinger ancestors. Our guide on 
this journey was principally Helga 
Scheichenost, a distant cousin, who told me 

passion to discover the past was evident to 
me and my brother. 

 

Our journey in Germany took us to the former 
home of Johann Ludwig Klinger, our g-g-g 
grandfather, born Nov. 3, 1741, in Steinau, 
Darmstadt-Dieburg Dist., Hesse, Germany. 
Johann Ludwig Klinger, a master miller, lived 
and worked at the site where Gerald Klinger, a 
distant relative, now resides. The mill, which 
produced grain and oil for many, many years, 
is no longer a working mill, but Gerald Klinger 
maintains the buildings and grounds well and 

 

Michaelskirche in Gross-Bieberau, Hesse is a 
beautiful little church where our g-g 
grandfather, Georg Henrich Klinger, married 
our g-g grandmother, Anna Marie Rettig in 
1809. Our German cousin Helga had been 
able to take a photo of the actual marriage 
record on a previous visit. We were awed to be 
in the church where our ancestors stood and I 
was actually moved to tears when our special 
guide that day, Georg Ludwig Klinger, another 
distant relative, began reading in German, 
then English, the scriptures engraved on 
either side of the altar. 

Our journey through Klinger history and 
through the Odenwald, a magnificent, forested 
area of Germany, was a marvelous experience 
with connections being made that will last our 
lifetime to the next generation and beyond. 
The German Texan Heritage Society helped 
make the planning for our trip easier when 
one of the true gems of the group, Helga 
Schweinitz, prior to our trip, called Germany 
from her home to speak to our German 
cousin, Helga Scheichenost. We want to thank 
her for generously sharing her ability to speak 
German. From that initial conversation 
between the two Helgas to our walk through 
the land of our ancestors our paths have been 
blessed with wonderful people. Brian and I will 
share our experiences at our K/Clinger 
Reunion held this year in Llano on Oct. 16, 
2010. We encourage everyone to become a 
genealogist and discover the richly colored 
threads making up your family tapestry. 
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FRANCES URSULA MILEY JEFFREY 
My Great Grandmother 
Kay Dunlap Boyd 

The A. B. MILEY family moved to Bastrop 
County, Texas from Covington County, 
Alabama around 1867. Andrew Barnwell 
MILEY and his wife Marey McKINNEY moved 
to this new land with eight of their children. 
One of those children was my great 
grandmother Frances Ursula MILEY who was 
born in Covington County, January 13, 1855. 
Her parents came with their families to 
Alabama from South Carolina. Although there 
is not a lot of recorded information on Ursula, 
this is her story.  

On March 12, 1835, A. B. married Marthey 
Caroline McKINNEY in South Carolina.  (The 
spelling of the names is taken from the family 
Bible.) Marthey bore A. B. seven children and 
died in 1847. Shortly thereafter, he married 
Marey A. McKINNEY, sister of Marthey, who 
was born in South Carolina April 10, 1822.  
This couple had ten children  

The MILEY home was on a hill about one and 
one half miles from Bastrop. It was described 
as a five-room frame, unpainted farmhouse 
with large combination kitchen and dining 
room, a spacious living and parental bedroom 
and three other bedrooms, two of them of the 
regulation shed type. A long porch ran the full 
length of the front. 

 older siblings were Robert Barnwell 
born 1836, Marey Elisabeth born 1837, 
Marthey Susanah born 1841, Rebecah Isabel 
born 1839, Caroline Elinder born 1843, 
James Washington born 1844, Sarah Jane 
born 1846. Margaret Deliah born 1847, 
Andrew Barnwell, Jr. and Anna Caroline twins 

born 1849, Nancy Catherine born 1852 and 
Mandy Adeline born 1854. The sixth child of 
Marey was Frances Ursula born January 13, 
1855.  

 

Next born was Lucinda Ellen in 1857, Malissa 
Abigal born 1859, William Jefferson born 
1861 and Emma Lee born 1865. When her 
father married for the third time to Ava 
DOLLAHITE RAY, she had another brother John 

Ray also lived with the MILEY family. 
Therefore, the house was always full. Much of 
the written information on the family was 
found in the autobiography of Jeff RAY.  

After moving to Bastrop, Ursula and her 
siblings attended the Colorado Institute where 
Mrs. Orgain was the teacher. Here she learned 
to appreciate the poets and play the piano. 
Her grandchildren told stories of sitting on her 
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lap as she was in her wheelchair and she 
recited poetry to them.  

At the age of 20, she married James Pruett 
JEFFREY from neighboring Caldwell County. J. 
P. was born in Tippah County, Mississippi to 
Anna HELLUMS and Jesse Franklin JEFFREY. 
He was a widower with a small son by this 
date. The newspaper carried this notice, 

-- At the residence of the bride's 
father in Bastrop on Monday evening, 4 Dec 
1875, by the Rev. Mr. Baker, Mr. James P. 

Bastrop 
Advertiser, December 18, 1875. Rev. Abel 
BAKER was an elder with the Primitive Baptist 
Church and a great friend of Mr. MILEY. 

Ursula and James P. (many of the JEFFREY 
men were named James, John, and Jesse, so 
initials became necessary in referring to them) 
resided on their farm in the McMahan area of 
Caldwell County where they raised their 11 
children. These were Alice, Mary, Fred, Daisy, 
Minnie K., Sarah, Emma, Austin, James Pruitt 
Jr., Pearl and Lewis.  

Since Ursula was married to a farmer, she had 
many chores in keeping house and raising her 
children. The agricultural census showed that 
the family produced butter, eggs, and honey. 
These were probably the responsibility of 
Ursula and her daughters. Besides caring for 
the cows and hogs, the boys in the family were 
responsible for the peanut fields and the 
watermelon patch. Miss Tracy was in charge 
of the JEFFREY 
years. 

Ursula died March 28, 1921 at the age sixty-
six years, two months and sixteen days.  A 
memorial written at the time of her death 

as in a wheelchair for 

over twenty years but she bore her suffering 
with great patience and never murmured at 
her lot. She was cheerful and loved for her 

 

Her obituary in the Lockhart Post read  

,   Sr.,   formerly   Miss  
Francis   Ursula   Miley   was   born   Jan.   12,  
1855,   in   Covington   County,   Alabama.   She  
came   to   Texas   in   1866   and   settled   at  
Bastrop.   In   1875   she   married   to   J.   P.  
Jeffrey,   of   McMahan   who   survives   her.  
They   resided  at  McMahan   ever   since   their  
marriage.   To   this   union   eleven   children  
were  born,  all  of  whom  survive.  They  are:  
Mrs.   R.   W.   McMahan,   Mrs.   W.   L.   Tally,  
Mrs.  K.  Alexander,  Lewis  Jeffrey  and  J.  P.  
Jeffrey,   Jr.,   all   of   McMahan;;   Mrs.   B.   F.  
Adams,   Tilmon,   Mrs.   Dave   Tiller,   Luling,  
Mrs.  A.  P.  Harris,  Lytton  Springs;;  Mrs.  T.  
G.  Dunlap,  Lockhart;;  Wm.  F.  Jeffrey,  Dale,  
and   Austin   L.   Jeffrey,   Pawhuska,  
Oklahoma.   She   is   also   survived   by   two  
brothers,  W.  J.  Miley  of  Bastrop  and  J.  H.  
Miley   of   Oklahoma   City   and   three   sisters,  
Mrs.   N.   R.   Deid   (Reid),   Hillsboro,   Texas;;  
Mrs.  Lucy  Brandon,  Bryan,  Texas  and  Mrs.  
Jane  Bryant,  Proctor,  Texas.  She  had  been  
an   invalid   for  more  than  twenty  years.  All  
the  children  save  Austin  were  at  the  bedside  
when  she  died  at  6:40  p.m.  March  28.  She  
was  buried  in  Jeffrey  Grave  Yard  at  10:00  
a.m.  March  30.  Mrs.  Jeffrey  was  one  of  the  
best  women  of  her  time.  With  patient  loving  
care  she  ministered  to  her  children  as  long  
as  her  strength  would  permit  and  saw  her  
sons   and   daughters   grow   into   men   and  
women   that   are  an  honor   to   their   parents  
and  the  community.  Mrs.  Jeffrey's   life  was  
a   benediction   to   the  world.  Lockhart  Post-­
Register,  April  7,  1921   
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THE WHOLE STORY 
An Ultimate Tombstone 
Robert Sage, submitter 

Seen by Robert Sage while inventorying Austin 
Memorial Park Cemetery: 

 

Front of stone 

 
 

Plaque on reverse side of family stone 

Our parents 

Marie Behr 

They met at a dance in February 1939. 
Mother was a city girl with auburn hair so fine. 
Daddy was a country boy with a charming 
smile. They fell in love and married in a little 
while. 

Over 33 years, their life together progressed 
with two daughters and six granddaughters 
they were blessed. Our parents, both only 
children, had much to share. Good times, at 
our house, were always there .For 38 years, 
Daddy repaired phones for Southwestern Bell. 
Mother was a homemaker who took care of us 
well. Daddy was a jack of all trades and loved 
Texas books. 

Mother enjoyed flower gardening and was the 
best of all cooks. 

Chester Feuerbacher 

Daddy was a son of the Republic of Texas and 
a genealogist. He was also a mason, an 
election judge and a philatelist. Mother was a 
PTA life member and daughter of the 
Confederacy as a daughter of the Republic of 
Texas she gave us a legacy. Together they 

civic volunteers. They enjoyed living in Austin 
and visiting their farm. Their main 
acquaintances found them out going and 
warm. Most important to them were God, 
friends and family. They were always there to 
support us. We each would agree Mother and 
Daddy were two wonderful examples of 
parental love for having them as parents. We 
thank God above. 

Our prayer for them is peace and serenity, as 
 

With love forever 
Sharon Feuerbacher Huegele 
Diane Feuerbacher Bennett 

On bench nearby 

In loving memory 
The parents of Chester Feuerbacher 

Willie Feuerbacher  
Dec. 26,1887  Apr. 15, 1973 

Clara A. Dittman Feuerbacher  
Feb. 17,1890  July 9, 1979 

Buried in Masonic Cemetery, Austin, Texas 
Descendants of early Texas pioneers 

Chester W.   Marie D. 
          Feuerbacher  Behr 

May 1, 1915                   May 8, 1921 
October 21,1992                   

married September 24, 1939 
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:  
A Fisher-Miller Colonist, 1813-1862 
Ann Dolce 

 

The emigration of Germans to Texas, for all 
practical purposes, began in 1831 when 
Friedrich Ernst, a native of Oldenburg, 
received a land grant from the Mexican 
Government.  The land was in the Valley of 
Mill Creek in the present-day northwestern 
Austin County, west of Houston.  Ernst 
established a farm and found the land so 
desirable that he wrote enthusiastic letters to 
friends in Germany.1   

Through these "America letters" that were 
published in newspapers and in book form, he 
reached and influenced other prospective 
migrants. He described a land with a 
winterless climate like that of Sicily. It had 
abundant game and fish, was fertile and rich, 
and only needed the hard work of Germans to 
make it produce abundantly. Taxes were 
virtually nil, and large tracts of land were 
available for only a surveyor's fee;; hunting and 
fishing required no licenses. Texas was an 
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earthly paradise.2  In the years that followed, a 
small stream of German immigrants 
numbering in the hundreds, settled near 
Ernst.3   

The numbers would probably have remained 
small and rather insignificant if it had not 
been for the work of the Vereinzum Schutz 
deutscher Einwanderer in Texas, a society 
composed of wealthy Germans who were 
interested in overseas colonization for both 
economic and philanthropic reasons. These 
promoters hoped, by purchasing colonial 
lands and settling them with Germans, to 
realize a profit on their investment as land 
values increased with the development of the 
area, while at the same time to provide a safe 
and prosperous future for thousands of 
emigrants. After some consideration, Texas 
was chosen as the site for the colony. The 
Verein obtained the right to settle Germans on 
a vast tract of land in west-central Texas 
known as the Fisher-Miller Grant.4 

Three distinct steps were developed in the 
process of bringing emigrants from Germany 
to the Fisher-Miller Colony and the receipt of 
the land grant: 1) the signing of the contract, 
2) the transfer of land to the German 
Emigration Company and 3) the granting of 
the land certificate.  Contracts were signed in 
Germany before a colonist ever embarked on 
a ship to Texas and a fee was taken by the 
group which was to be given back to the 
emigrant in Texas.  Character references were 
taken at this time, but copies of such 
transactions have never surfaced.  Once a 
contract had been signed the emigrant family 
was allowed to travel to Texas on a ship 
chartered by the company. 

The transfers, or the right to claim ½ of the 

of Texas law and were written into each 
contract in the 1840s. Transfers were signed 
upon arriving in Texas at either Galveston, 

Indianola, New Braunfels or Fredericksburg 
way-stations used by the Society from the 
coast to the grant.  
transferred to the German Emigration and 
Railroad Company, another title for the Society 
and the German Emigration Company. The 
settlers of the Fisher-Miller Colony were the 
only group that signed an entirely separate 
paper for the specific transaction. 

Finally, certificates were issued to the 
colonists when they wanted to claim their 
lands, usually in New Braunfels or 
Fredericksburg.  The Society made two copies, 
one for the immigrant and one for the General 
Land Office.5  

The offer by the Verein to prospective 
emigrants was very attractive, and recruits 
were easy to find. Each unmarried man was to 
pay the equivalent of $120 and the head of a 
household $240, while each agreed to 
cultivate at least fifteen acres for three years 
and to occupy his house for the same period. 
In return for this, the Verein promised (1) free 
transportation to the colony, (2) free land in 
the colony - 160 acres for a single man and 
320 acres for a family, (3) a free log house, (4) 
provisions and all goods necessary to begin 
farming, supplied on credit until the second 
successive crop had been harvested, and (5) 
numerous public improvements, such as the 
construction of roads, mills, cotton gins, 
hospitals, schools, churches, orphan asylums, 
and even the canalization of rivers. All this the 
Verein proposed to do with a total capital of 
only about $80,000, apparently convinced 
that huge profits would be realized by keeping 
ownership of one-half on the land under the 
colony. 

Under the supervision of Prince Carl von 
Solms Braunsfels, and later the Baron von 
Meusebach, the Verein went about the task of 
colonization. Beginning in 1844, German 
emigrants were sent by sailing ship to 
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Galveston, and then to Indianola, the Verein 
port on Matagorda Bay. It was soon realized 
that the land obtained for colonization was too 
far from the coast to be settled immediately, 
and as a result, New Braunsfels (Comal 
County, 1845), and Fredericksburg (Gillespie 
County, 1846) were founded as way stations.  
The German immigrants brought by the Verein 
numbered 7,380 in the period from 1844 to 
1846. The following year, 1847, the Verein 
went bankrupt, a victim of improper 
management and inadequate planning."6  On 
1 May 1848 the State of Texas authorized the 
governor to appoint a commissioner to issue 
certificates for land in the Fisher and Miller 
Grant upon hearing proof that the immigrant 
was entitled to land.  Under this provision, 
head of families received 640 acres and 
single men received 320 acres.  If the grantee 
did not move on the land within two years 
from the date of receiving the certificate, the 
certificate was to lapse.7  It must be noted 
that this act did not negate the possibility that 
one-half of the lands could be claimed by the 
German Emigration Company.8 

The German immigrants that came to Texas, 
arrived in clusters from confined districts in 
Germany to settle similarly confined colonial 
areas. People from small rural parishes in 
Germany settled a county or part of a county 
in Texas. Typically, their neighbors had been 
neighbors in the Fatherland. Most of the 
German immigrant clusters came from west 
central Germany, particularly Nassau, 
southern Hanover, Brunswick, Hesse, and 
western Thuringia.9  

The German settlers who came to Texas 
generally were solid middle-class peasants. 
They were land-owning families, artisans, and, 
in a few cases, university educated 

professionals and intellectuals. The majority 
were farmers with a modest experience in 
trade. The Germans were ambitious people 
who believed their futures were cramped by 
the social and economic system at home. 
They were not poverty-stricken and oppressed. 
Indeed, they were able to afford the 
substantial cash investment required in 
overseas migration.10 

As part of this wave of settlers in April of 
1846, came thirty-three year old Jean 
Schneider from Welgesheim, Hessen 
Darmstadt.  The Texas story begins. 

 was born on 26 Nov 
1813 in Welgesheim, Hessen Darmstadt, 
southwest of Mainz, Germany.11  Baptismal 
documents from Hessen, Germany state that 
on 28 Nov 1813 Joannes (Johann), legitimate 
son of Peter Schneider and his wife Catharina 
Margaretha nee Emmericy, was christened 
and the sponsor was Johannes Zimmer, a 
citizen of Ober-Hilbersheim. Jean had several 
siblings: John Peter born in 1804, Anna 
Elizabeth born in 1807, Joe Mathias born 
1809 and Balthasar who was born in 1822.12   

At the age of 33 Jean, a brewer by trade13, 
emigrated from Germany to New Braunfels, 
Comal County, Texas through the port of 
Galveston, Texas.14 Texas General Land Office 
documents show that Jean was a Fisher-Miller 
colonist and signed a contract or agreement 
with the Society for the Protection of German 
Immigrants in Texas on 22 Dec 1845 in 

bound for Galveston. The agreement provided 
160 acres of land in the county of San 
Antonio, Republic of Texas in an area known 
as the Fisher-Miller Colony provided the 
colonist lived on the land for three  

Baptismal Certificate 
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Contract: 22 Dec 1845   
Texas Land Office 
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Contract: 22 Dec 1845   
Texas Land Office 
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consecutive years, fenced and cultivated 15 
acres of the land and built a dwelling. The 
agreement was witnessed by the Consulate of 
the Republic of Texas for the port of Antwerp 
on 23 Dec 1845.15   

The date Jean arrived in Texas varies by a few 

. 
Schneider, single, no age given, from 

which left Antwerp on 22-Dec-1845 and 
arrived in Galveston, Texas on 08 Apr 1846.16 

naturalized American citizen states that he 
arrived in Galveston on 12 Apr 1846, a slight 
discrepancy of four days.17 A Jun 1847 
document has his arrival as 15 Apr 1846 and 
his Fischer-Miller Land Grant Transfer records 
that he arrived aboard the Hamilton on 16 Apr 
1846. All sources agree that Jean Schneider 
arrived in Texas in April of 1846. 

The process of bringing immigrants from 
Germany to the Fisher-Miller Colony and the 
actual granting of land involved three steps 
developed by the German Emigration 
Company and the Republic of Texas. The first 
step was the signing of the contract which 
Jean did in Antwerp on 22 Dec 1845.  

The second step was the signing of a transfer, 
or the right to claim one-
land, allowed by the Republic of Texas law. 
This transfer was to be signed upon the 

-
half of the land to the German Emigration and 
Railroad Company, another title for the 
German Emigration Company. Presumably, 
the colonists were aware of the acres they 
were to receive and to transfer.  

Jean signed his transfer document on 18 Jun 
1847. The transfer was dated just over one 
year after he arrived in Texas. It is possible the 
transfer was signed at this time because the 

date coordinates with the beginning the land 
grant surveys, June 1847. Surveys of the 
Fisher-Miller land were completed prior to the 
establishment of any German settlers on 
colony land. Any attempt to settle prior to the 
completion of the surveys would have resulted 
in chaos. Once the surveys were completed, 
settlers were allowed to travel into the area 
and look, and then return to Fredericksburg to 
plot their lands on a large map.18  

The final step in the process was the issuing 
of certificates by which the colonist actually 
claimed land.19  This was usually done in New 
Braunfels or Fredericksburg. Two copies were 
made, one for the immigrant and one for the 
General Land Office.20 Some settlers had 
difficulty obtaining land because the German 
Emigration Company was financially insolvent 
as early as spring of 1846.21 To aid the 
colonists, the Texas Legislature passed a law 
on 20 Mar 1848 giving rights to 640 acres for 
married men and 320 acres for single men to 
Fisher-Miller colonists.  The act did not negate 
the possibility that ½ of the land could be 
claimed by the German Emigration Company. 
It must be noted that Jean Schneider 
received, on 08 Jun 1848, a land patent for 
the full 320 acres in what is now Llano County 
under the provisions of the Act of the Texas 

re to 

22 
land was Section No. 57 in Bigham District 
No. 10 in Bexar County, later Llano County. It 
was typical Hill Country scrub land and was 
eventually sold by the family in 1942.23    

Jean declared his intent to be a citizen in 
Comal County in the fall of 1848 and became 
a naturalized American citizen in Comal 
County in 1851.24 The affidavit, signed by 
Joseph Ackermann and Anton Riedel, attested 

 was known to 
them for the last five years during two years of 
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which period he has behaved as a man 
attached to the principles of the constitution 
of the United States and well disposed to the 

25  

Between June 1849 and May 185026, Jean 
married Margaretha Groben another German 
immigrant.  Margaretha Groben (also 
Margretha, Margarete, Margaret, Martha in 
the records) was born 14 Apr 1827 in Gau-
Bickelheim, Hessen Darmstadt, Germany.27   

In transcribed recollections, Jean Schneider 
Park (great granddaughter) indicates the male 

some of his children may have been born 
there.  An interview with Edward T. Schneider 
(grandson) relates that Jean was engaged to a 
woman in Germany and that he sent for her 
after he was established.  Edward further 
states that Margaretha came to New Oreans 
and that he met her and they were married in 

New Orleans.28   What is known is that, 
according to the Fisher-Miller documents, 
Jean emigrated as a single man and arrived 

29  Additionally, no record of 
the marriage exists in either the civil or 
Catholic records of New Orleans during the 
period 1846-1851, suggesting that the 
marriage did not take place there.  Even 
though the marriage location, date and 
maiden name of the bride are not clear, there 
are recorded facts that help illuminate the 
movements of the family. The 1850 census 
for New Braunfels, Comal County, Texas has a 

native of Germany, listed with no children and 
married within the past year.30  

Records are equally clear that Jean and 
Margaretha had five children, Jacob Peter (b. 
1852), Albert (b. 1854), John Dominic (b. 
1855), Mary Isabelle (b. 1859), and Adolph 
Herman (b. 1862). The four older children 
were born in New Braunfels, Texas and the 
youngest, Adolph, was born in Austin, Travis 
County, Texas.31 

According to much of the evidence, the family 
moved to Austin, Texas in 1858 or 1859. The 
obituary of John Dominic Schneider, a son, 
states that the family moved to Austin in 
185932 and the 1860 census lists the family 
in Austin under the misspelled name 

33   

The 1858 date is supported by records of a 

first chartered school in Austin, incorporated 
by an act of the Texas Legislature. It was 
started in Austin because there was no 
system of public education in Texas at that 
time. Jean was a trustee of the school and 
was mentioned in a newspaper article as 
having been on a committee of three to 
choose the first teacher in 1858.34 The school 

Declaration of Intent 

Jacob Peter    John Dominic         
Albert      Margaretha     Mary Isabelle                      

Adolph Herman 
Austin History Center Photograph ca. 1865 
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building still stands at 507 East 10th St, 
Austin, Texas. 

The couple was definitely in business in Austin 
by 1860. Travis County records show that 
Jean took out a lease from Gustavus 
Kirchberg  and on 14 Apr 1860 opened a 
brewery in Au
Saloon on Congress Avenue.35 On 01 Mar 
1860 Jean and Margaretha purchased Lots 
No. (3 &4) in Block No 22 in the City of Austin 
from Lydia and Augustus Schwartz.36 This 
downtown property became the family 
homestead. A reference to Jean and his wife is 
found in the New Braunfels, Comal County 
deeds. Jean and Margaretha are listed 1 Jan 
1861, owning Lot #120.37 The couple was 
definitely transacting land purchases, leases 
and sales in New Braunfels and Austin during 
these years as well as opening a brewery in 
Austin. 

As part of his brewery, Jean constructed a 
limestone basement on Block 22, Lot 4. In 
2001 archeologists researched the two-room 

new city hall.38  Built during the 1850s, the 
beer vault was the first of its kind in the city39. 
Jean had intentions of building a complete 
brewery at this site but he never finished the 
above ground portion.40 Margaretha and her 
son Jacob Peter built a grocery store and 
wagon yard above the vaults but not until the 
1870s. 

The Civil War intervened and drastically 
changed the fortunes of the young Schneider 
family. On February 1, 1861 the state 
convention passed the secession ordinance.41 
According to recollections from his children 
and grandchildren, Jean was a member of the 
Confederate army. Not much is known of his 
service. The State Gazette, Austin 22 Jun 
1861 listed a J. Schneider among the privates 
in the muster roll of the Austin City Light 
Artillery Company under Captain H. Wilke.42 

The Austin City Light Artillery was also known 
as the 6th Texas Field Artillery Battery and was 
organized June 1861 and mustered in on 14 
Oct 1861.43 It has not yet been confirmed that 
this was Jean Schneider, but there were many 
German surnames among the soldiers 
including men associated with the German 
Free School in Austin: J. L. Buaas, Carl Weise, 
C. W. Pressler. and Joseph Martin. 44   

What is known is that Jean was killed in a 
wagon accident on 18 Jan 1862.  The 

named Oakwood Cemetery) in Austin, Texas 

45  No death certificate exists for him 
since Texas did not mandate death 
certificates until 1903. Additionally, no record 
of death exists for him in the Catholic Archives 

records date back only to 1865. Jean is buried 
with many extended family members at Mt. 
Calvary Cemetery, Austin.46   

Margaretha was pregnant and had four young 

save in the way of employment for her older 
boy, who was J.P. Schneider 47  Although 

Block 22 Lots 3&4 Austin 

Mark Denton (Texas Historical Commission) leads 
Schneider descendents on tour of the beer vault in 

2007. 
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widowed, Margaretha continued to transact 
business and raise her family. She sold 
property to Franz Gross on 12 Dec 1865, 
recorded on the same date, part of lot 91 in 
New Braunfels, Comal County.48 This sale 

were probably used to help support the family. 
She and her son Jacob Peter opened a 
mercantile store and wagon yard on the north-
west corner of Live Oak and Guadalupe 
streets. The store later moved to the south-
west corner and today is listed on the National 
Register of Historic Places by the Department 
of the Interior.49 

, 
recalled a story his grandmother told of a 
Yankee prisoner who escaped and found his 

sorry for him, she hid the escapee in the loft 
and that night gave him a sunbonnet and 

get away. The next morning as she went to 

hanging at Congress and Pecan.50 

a 
married Franz (Frank) Froelich (or Frohlich) on 
22 Feb 1868.51  Franz, ten years younger than 
Margaretha,  was a brick mason52 and died 
shortly after they were married, most likely 
between 1872 and 1873. There were no 
children born of Ma
marriage. 

Margaretha died 16-Sep-1883.53  Her obituary 
, a lady favorably 

know in this community, died last Sunday 
evening, her funeral taking place yesterday 

esidence, 

From the Catholic Archives of Texas death 

She was a very good woman, raised all her 
54 Margaretha is buried 

next to her husband in Mt. Calvary Cemetery, 
in Austin, Texas. 

The seven generations of Schneider family 
have produced 292 descendents and 137 

descendents still live in Texas and in addition 
to Schneider, have surnames of Anderson, 
Ballantyne, Bauman, Bolner, Bray, Chappell, 
Clark, Daboub, Dolce, Drew, Engres, Garcia, 
Gillean, Gose, Gumbert, Hajek, Harness, Hart, 
Henckel, Hyatt, Hyde, Jenkins, Johnston, Kelly, 
Kennedy, Kennell, Leary, Lockwood, Loftis, 
Maloney, Matson, Meeh, Mertz, Mueller, Park, 
Pecot, Peddy, Peters, Pitts, Polasek, Prost, 
Raines, Richter, Rogers, Russell, Schmidt, 
Shield, Snow, Teeler, Walston and White. The 
generations have written the history of typical 
German immigrant families. In the words of 
Dr. John P. Schneider, great grandson of Jean 

America. If a person wants to work, is honest 
and dependable, you can make it here. That is 

 

Margaretha Schneider:  AHC 
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Travis County Pioneer Certificates 
 

The Travis County Pioneer Certificate program began in April 2004 by AGS member Gaylon Powell. As 
of this date, 52 certificates have been issued representing 31 pioneers. Some Pioneers have been 
proven to be in Travis County as far back as 1832. 

Austin Genealogical Society issues pioneer certificates to those who can prove their ancestors lived 
in Travis County, Texas, prior to the close of 1880. You must submit proof of direct descent from a 
resident. Proofs can be birth, death and marriage certificates, probate, census and military records 
as well as obituaries and Bible records.   

If you have already received a certificate, we can use that documentation to add other family 
certificates using your existing file. Certificates can be issued to you, your children, grandchildren, 
siblings or parents. 

Each application is $20 and the certificates make nice gifts. 

If you need more information or assistance in gathering your documents to apply for the Travis 
County Pioneer Certificate, contact Kay Dunlap Boyd. She will be happy to assist you in your 
documentation. The forms can be downloaded from www.AustinTxGenSoc.org or mailed to you.  The 
finished packet of information should be mailed to AGS, P. O. Box 10010, Austin, Texas 78766-1010 
along with the $20.00 application fee for each certificate. 

 although 
membership in the society is another fine bargain at $20 a year.  

 

What follows are a sampling of the ancestral charts from select certificates.  
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Jesse F BURDITT, Sr 
Travis County Pioneer, #6-017 
Proven to be in Travis County in 1844 from Tennessee  

 

Generation No. 1 

1.  Jesse F1 BURDITT, SR was born 2 Jan 1787 in Edgefield, SC, and died Apr 1835 in Austin, Travis, TX.  He 
married Mildred CRAIN abt. 1810.  She was born in 1790 in GA, and died 14 Apr 1878 in Austin, Travis, TX. 

  

Generation No. 2 

2.  Giles Henry2 BURDITT (Jesse F1) was born 2 Mar 1818 in Bedford, TN, and died 24 May 1903 in Austin, 
Travis, TX.  He married Mary Jane VANCE 1839 in TN.  She was born 3 Dec 1822 in Bedford, TN, and died 5 Nov 
1905 in Austin, Travis, TX. 

 

Generation No. 3 

3.  Almeda Caroline3 BURDITT (Giles Henry2, Jesse F1) was born Sep 12, 1841 in San Augustine, Republic of 
Texas, and died 29 May 1886 in Austin, Travis, TX.  She married Algernon Richard MORRIS 23 Sep 1858 in 
Travis, TX.  He was born 28 Aug 1830 in Orange, NC, and died 5 Feb 1903 in Austin, Travis, TX. 

 

Generation No. 4 

4.  Margaret Lavinia4 MORRIS (Almeda Caroline3 BURDITT, Giles Henry2, Jesse F1) was born 2 Mar 1868 in Austin, 
Travis, TX, and died 29 Mar 1970 in Austin, Travis, TX.  She married Camp Collins HARN 20 Dec 1887 in 
Austin, Travis, TX.  He was born 8 Dec 1866 in TX, and died 8 Sep 1912 in Austin, Travis, TX. 

 

Generation No. 5 

5.  Mabelle Cornelia5 HARN (Margaret Lavinia4 MORRIS, Almeda Caroline3 BURDITT, Giles Henry2, Jesse F1) was 
born 17 Oct 1902 in Austin, Travis, TX, and died 9 Nov1995 in Austin, Travis, TX.  She married John Embry 
HUNT 25 Dec 1935 in Travis, TX.  He was born 15 Dec1904 in Decatur, Wise, TX, and died 15 Feb 1971 in 
Austin, Travis, TX. 

 

Child of MABELLE HARN and JOHN HUNT is: 

 i. GLENDA MARGARET6 HUNT. 
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Willis and Margaret Jackson HOPKINS 
Travis County Pioneers, #06-19, #06-21 and #06-23 
Proven to be in Travis County in 1880 from NC and GA  

 

Generation No. 1 

1.  Willis1 HOPKINS was born 30 Nov 1821 in Randolph, NC, and died 20 Mar 1904 in Austin, Travis, TX.  He 
married Margaret JACKSON 24 Mar 1846 in Campbell, GA.  She was born 21 Mar 1824 in Campbell, GA, and 
died 31 Aug 1881 in Austin, Travis, TX. 

 

Generation No. 2 

2.  Emma Josephine2 HOPKINS (Willis1) was born 3 May 1861 in Bowden, Campbell, GA, and died 16 Mar 
1947 in Johnson City, Blanco, TX.  She married George William ROUNTREE 17 Jan 1882 in Austin, Travis, TX. 
He was born 11 Jan 1862 in Austin, Travis, TX, and died 26 Oct 1946 in Johnson City, Blanco, TX. 

 

Generation No. 3 

3.  Mary Belle3 ROUNTREE (Emma Josephine2 HOPKINS, Willis1) was born 20 Aug 1900 in Hye, Blanco, TX, and 
died 4 Jul 1978 in Bastrop, Bastrop, TX.  She married Victor Emanuel STRIEGLER 15 Oct 1917 in Blanco, TX.  
He was born 12 Jun 1896 in Gillespie, TX, and died 12 Oct 1970 in Fredericksburg, Gillespie, TX. 

  

Children of Victor STRIEGLER and Mary ROUNTREE are: 

 i. Lillian Irene STRIEGLER 

 ii. Maurice STRIEGLER 

 iii. Gladys Mary STRIEGLER 
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Kinard Cousin Camp Links Youngsters to 
Their Ancestors 
Phoebe Allen

More than a dozen great-great grandchildren 
of Hattie Helms and George William Kinard 

Farmerville, Louisiana, June 21-24, 2010, for 
a Kinard Cousin Camp to meet third cousins 

ancestors who lived in Union County Arkansas 
and in Union and Claiborne Parishes in 
Louisiana between 1850 and 1950. 
Interestin
from Corney/Cornie Creek, a fishing stream 
that straddles the Arkansas-Louisiana state 

Bayou, tributaries of the Ouachita River.  

The purpose of Cousin Camp was to 
encoura
generation to become interested in the family 
history, to create memories with newfound 
cousins, and to honor Hanry and Kinard 
ancestors buried in nearby cemeteries: 
Spotsville, Marysville, Shiloh, old New Hope, 
and Jolley cemeteries in Arkansas, and Holly 
Grove and Hebron in Louisiana. 
Representatives from families descended 
from their great-great-great grandparents  
Nancy Anna Hanry and Charlie Pratt Kinard  
also visited, including Sarah Beth Kinard, age 
95, of El Dorado, and Aubie Mae Thompson, 
age 90, of Jonesboro, Louisiana, who were 
interviewed by the children. 

The camp functioned without TV, electronic 
devices or video games, turning instead to 
games of bygone days like horseshoes, 
dominoes, hopscotch, jacks, and marbles, as 
well as swimming and fishing. Activities 
included making rubbings of headstones, 

listening to stories about their ancestors, 
interviewing elders, and eating old-fashioned 
staples like chicken and dumplings and ribbon 
cane syrup on biscuits. 

  

Sisters Phoebe Sue Allen and Carol Allen 
Smoak  both of whom grew up in El Dorado  
coordinated the effort. The cousins, ages six 
to fourteen, arrived from Arkansas, Louisiana, 
and Florida, gathering initially at the 1873 
Allen home in Spotsville, Arkansas, near 
Corney Creek, where the campers checked out 
the two-seater outhouse, drew water from a 
well, fed livestock and collected eggs from the 

headed south to the Old New Hope Cemetery 
to see a newly installed marker for their great-
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great-great-great grandparents, Mathilda 
Skinner and George Emins Hanry, to repair 
two Hanry headstones that had fallen off their 
pedestals, and to make gravestone rubbings. 
In New Hope, still near Corney Creek, they 
drove through former Hanry, Kinard and 
Helms property on Coletown Road. 

 

Activities on the second day included a visit to 
Kinard graves in Hebron Cemetery and the 
Summerfield farm of Baptist minister Charlie 

stand in a dark, thick grove of giant bamboo, 
which may have been planted for fishing 
poles. Following lunch at the Rebel Café in 
Summerfield, the campers stopped at Shiloh 
Cemetery east of Bernice to visit the graves of 

Tommie Kelly Kinard.  

The third day brought to a full circle the history 
of Charlie Pratt Kinard, who had been born 
near Spearsville in 1853 and was orphaned 

as a teenager before his move to Union 

grandfather Graham Kinard (both born in 
South Carolina) purchased land in Union 
Parish between 1849 and 1861, in gently 
rolling hills north of Spearsville, where Antioch 
Church and horse farms are now located.  

A visit to the Union Parish Courthouse in 
Farmerville revealed an inventory of property 
and land where Graham Kinard and his family 
lived at his death in 1862. The County Clerk 
brought out from her archives the original, 
handwritten record, which showed that the 

(five-great) grandparents had, in 
1862, owned 240 acres of land off Cook Road 
near Lillie on the north bank of Corney Creek 

 bottom land perhaps better suited to 
farming the corn and potatoes listed among 
their possessions. Their property included a 
bay horse, a brown mule, a buggy and 
harness, a wagon, a yoke of oxen, 69 hogs, 16 
head of cattle, a man saddle and a side 
saddle, a wash pot, three beehives, and a 
variety of furnishings, farming implements and 
produce. The children were impressed  even 
the taciturn teenagers! A separate land grant 

Minerva Ann Sawyer Kinard, bought 200 acres 
of adjacent land in 1861. 

The campers headed home the next 
afternoon, taking with them Ancestor Books 
filled with over 200 pages of stories, 
genealogy charts, family recipes and photos. 
Hopefully the seeds planted in those four days 
will germinate future interest in the family 
tree, as well as a sense of humility and 
respect for all of the hard work of their 
ancestors before them.  

Anyone with information or queries about the 
family can contact phoebezink@gmail.com. 
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Comings and Goings of the Underhill, 
Bagnal, Holt, and Rowley Families  
Jo Ann Rowley-Minhoto 

My Rowley family was in Austin by 1914, when 
my great grandfather Ezra H. Rowley and two 
of his sons, Edward and Clarence, appear in 
the Austin City Directory. Clarence is my 

Rowleys to Austin, beginning with the 
Underhills.  

The Underhills first show up in 1898-1899 
City Directory for Austin.1 There are two 
Underhill entries, one for Edward M. Underhill 
and one for Walter L. Walter L., a single 
gentleman, is Edward's son while Edward M. is 
my 2nd 

 
great grandfather.  

Edward M. Underhill (also known as Stephen 
Edward Monaghan Underhill and often listed 
as E.M.) was born 9 Nov 1841 in Scotland,2 
coming to the United States in time to serve in 
the Civil War for the state of Alabama, 1862-
1865. Much of his military career is on the 

Online Database Collection for Civil War 
Soldiers.3 This picture of him is also there.  

 
Lipscomb 25 August 1868 in Washington 
County, Texas.4 How Edward M. Underhill ends 
up in Texas in 1868 to find and marry Bessie 
remains a mystery. Bessie had long Alabama 
and Texas roots, as her grandfather, Abner 
Smith Lipscomb, came to Texas from Alabama 
in time to serve as Secretary of State for the 
Republic,5 be a member of the 1845 
Constitutional Convention,6 and serve as one 
of the first two associate justices of the Texas 
Supreme Court, from 1846-1856.7 Lipscomb 
County, Texas, is named in his honor.8 

referenced as Bibb), was the oldest son of 
Abner, as far as known,9 and 
oldest child. Bessie was born 18 Oct 184610 
in Washington or Fayette County, Texas.  

  

Col. Edward M Underhill, 65th Alabama Infantry, C.S.A. 

back to Alabama where she and E.M. are in 
the 1870 census in Mobile.11 E.M. Underhill
occupation is bookkeeper. By 1890 the 

the general auditor for Southern Pacific 
Railroad.12 
New Orleans and Houston directories.13 He 
likely began working for the railroad earlier, 
something still to research. They all return to 
Texas before 1900 as in 1898-1899, in the 
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14 Their residence is 1500 
Brazos.  

  

This might be from 1500 Brazos, with possibly 
Emily (Underhill) Holt at the gate. 

Bagnal is another family name and that name 
first shows up in 1898-1899 City Directory for 
Austin.15 Nellie Bagnal (Mrs. T.A.) is actually 
an Underhill, being the daughter of Edward M 
and Bessie. Nellie is also at 1500 Brazos, her 

an army camp.16 Likely Tom went away to the 
Spanish-American War so Nellie joined her 
parents in Austin. Nellie's daughter Thelma 
was born in August of 189817 
likely in the Underhill household, too.  

-1899 
directory, at 1500 Brazos: Emily Holt (Mrs. 
Louis).18 This is Emily Gordon Underhill, 
another daughter of Edward and Bessie, and 
is my great grandmother. Like Nellie, Emily 
recently became a mother, when my 
grandmother Mildred Gordon Holt was born in 
May 1898.19  

Emily and her daughter Mildred, Nellie and her 
daughter Thelma, their brother Walter, and 
their parents Edward and Bessie.  

household includes 3 grandchildren as well as 

their daughter Emily and her daughter 
Mildred.20 They now reside at 1606 Sabine 
Street. This is the same address for the 1900 
through 1904 city directories.  

By 1900 Nellie (Underhill) Bagnal is away from 
Austin for some years while her brother Walter 
has moved from Austin permanently.  

  

Bessie (Lipscomb) Underhill, 1902 

Bessie and E.M. had one other child who 
became an adult: Percy Walker Underhill.21 
His children are in and out of Austin around 

Lucile (sometimes listed as Blanche), and 

listed in the 1900 census and the Austin 
directories for 1900 through 1904, even 

22 Have yet to 
understand why these children are listed in 
the directories, since only people of legal age 
are usually included.  

changing with the 1905 city directory. The first 
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death 6 February 1904.23 Bessie Underhill 
 are at 

600 West 15th 
 
for 1905, at 1306 Nueces in 

1906-1907, and at 1309 San Antonio for 
1909-1910.24 The address on the 1910 

6th 
 

Street.25 Bessie (Lipscomb) Underhill, 1902  

Percy [Jr] Underhill s 1910 
census, as her grandchildren. None of these 
children appear in Austin city directories for 
1905 through 1907.26 
son, being close to 21 years old, is in the 
1909-
residence. But all 3 are in the 1910-1911 
directory, even though Lucile is still only about 
15.27 
apparently left Austin to live elsewhere the 
rest of their lives.  

d is in 

the City Directory but apparently separated 

separate on and off.28  

Bessie dies 8 August 1910,29 after the census 
in April, and is not in the 1910-1911 directory, 
though her daughters Emily and Nellie are, at 
the 306 E. 16th Street census address. 30 The 
sisters live together in Austin through 1916.  

In 1912-1913 they move to 304 E. 16th, next 

listed. It appears Tom and Nellie got back 
together briefly 1912-
directory has the number of people in a family. 
There are 4 people at this residence for this 
family: Tom and Nellie and their 2 daughters 
Thelma and Mary. Mrs. Emily Holt is here, too, 

with 3 people connected to her. Mildred would 
be the second

 
person but i

the third 
31  

By 1914 it's just Nellie, now at 1304 
Guadalupe, without Tom, where she stays 
through 1918.32 Tom is in Galveston, 
according to the World War I Draft 
Registration, and lists his wife Nellie living in 
Austin.33  

Their daughter Thelma gets listed under her 
own name for her first

 
appearance in the 

second
 

city directory listing shows her progression in 
the work place, from phone operator in 1916 
to bookkeeper in 1918 at E.M. Scarbrough & 
Sons. In 1918, Miss Mary Bagnal is in the 
directory for her first time.  

  

E.M. Scarbrough workers, about 1917, including 
Thelma Bagnal. 

For 1914 and 1916 Emily and her daughter 
Mildred are also at 1304 Guadalupe.34  

-  and his 
2 sons Edward and Clarence first arrive in 
Austin, living at 708 E 12th

son George joins the family at 508 W 10th 35
 

but brother Edward has moved to San 
Antonio.  

In 1916 Mildred Holt (along with her cousin 

Mildred G Miss, usher Majestic Theatre bds 
36 is 
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key  for the city directory has both brothers 
George A. and Clarence Rowley as film 
operators there. Clarence meets Mildred, and 
by 10 March 1917 they marry.37 
1917 directory but the 1918 entries are 

(Mildred) h 908 W 10th  

  

Mildred (Holt) & Clarence Rowley, about 1917 

Also at this address is Emily Holt
mother.381918 is Emily Gordon (Underhill) 

5 June 1919.39  

  

Emily (Underhill) Holt & Clarence Rowley, likely 
taken by Mildred 1917-1918 

Clarence and Mildred (Holt) Rowley are at 
1805 Brazos, per the City Directory40 and the 

1920 census.41  A for 
Alvin  is age 2 on that census. By this time, 
my great grandfather Ezra had followed his 
son Ed to San Antonio but his wife Sadie is in 
the directory at 1807 Brazos, next door to 
Clarence and Mildred.  

George Rowley is still in town, becoming a 
fairly well-known businessman as manager of 
Deep Eddy Bathing Beach. He and his wife 
Celeste (Smith) live at 408 Deep Eddy Ave in 
1920.  

This address becomes important in the 1930s 
to my father and his family, for their house 
burns and they come to live on the grounds of 
Deep Eddy, first in a tent then in a Camp or 

are 
Camp Houses, with canvas shades that draw 
down. It got rather cold in the winter, living in 

42  

Eddy shows in the directories  at 1805 

4810 Ave F.43 This house was built by 

burned down.44 

It was around Easter 1929 or 1930 and the 
whole family had been out swimming at Deep 
Eddy. Then Clarence had a Union Meeting and 
came home a bit late and tired and wanted a 
bath. Water had to be heated on the stove 
and a towel hanging above caught fire. 
Clarence got everyone out of the house and 
he ran back in once for things, but all clothes 

 and pictures  burned.45 My dad, Alvin, was 
about 11.46 Throughout his l
conscious of any hazard which might cause a 
fire. The 4810 Ave F address holds strong 
memories for him because of the fire and the 
change to their lives, causing Clarence and 
Mildred, with their 4 children without clothing 
or furnishings, to move to 408 Deep Eddy Ave, 
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-1931 
City Directory.47  

 

Even though by 1932-1933 my dad's family 
had moved to 1509 Newning Avenue,48 they 

lled, 
providing a stable base at the Deep Eddy 
address. It was a great place to live and visit, 
a grand big house, and they got to swim at the 
Deep Eddy pool any time. Alvin was a good 
strong swimmer and his sister Evelyn won 
several State-wide competitions for swimming.  

By the mid- to late- 1940s, the ownership and 
the management of Deep Eddy was no longer 

the shallow end: he would weave through the 
water   no more than a foot deep  as if 
he were a menacing crocodile, chasing me 
while I splashed through the water, looking 
back over my shoulder, fearful but laughing. 
These Deep Eddy Avenue addresses are the 
ones on the 1930 census for the Clarence 
and George Rowley families49, and is where 
George continued to live until he died in 1948. 
George's wife Celeste  Aunt Honey  stayed 
there until she died in 1961.50  

Beginning in 1920, no members of the Bagnal 
family are in Austin City Directories  they 
moved to Galveston  until the 1940s, when 
Nellie and Tom Bagnal are in the City Directory 
at 907 S. Congress.51 They were in and out of 
Austin and Galveston over the years. In the 
1960s, Nellie, now a widow, and her daughter 

 moved to Bull 
Creek Road.52 This street's behind where my 

lives, on Placid Place. This has been his home 
since 1947.  

  

Sisters Emily & Nellie, possibly at 1304 
Guadalupe. 

Percy Walker Underhill, Nellie and Emily's 
brother, came to Austin in 193553 and stayed 
until he died there 23 April 1943.54 Previously 
he'd worked on the railroad and traveled at 
times in the baggage car, keeping watch on 
the contents there. One night he fell asleep, 
the train hit a bump or a curve and Uncle 
Percy was thrown out of the baggage car and 
his right arm was partially amputated. It may 
have been this accident which led him to 
Austin. He lived at 602 Rio Grande, as listed in 
the 1935 City Directory. Clarence and Mildred 
lived at 604 West 6th. Alvin and his sister 
Evelyn remember running around the corner 
to visit Uncle Percy. In Austin Percy worked at 
the State Department of Education's Textbook 
Depository and helped Evelyn get a job 
there.55  

Back from today, beginning with 1898, the 
comings and goings of the Underhill, Holt, 
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Bagnal, and Rowley families are annotated in 
the city directories of Austin,56 and supported 
by census and vital records. Those who 
seemed to be recorded most in these earlier 
directories  Nellie (Underhill) Bagnal and her 
sister Emily (Underhill) Holt  are the only 
children of Edward M Underhill and Bessie 
Gaines Lipscomb who have descendants, 
some still in Austin.  

I can find additional information from other 
sources  for example, I intend to look for a 
deed to the property at 4810 Avenue F, the 
house my grandfather built that burned. I can 
find out more about 408 Deep Eddy Avenue in 

deeds. Or use house history records at Austin 
History Center to find out if the house 
currently at 1304 Guadalupe is the same one 
the Bagnals and Holts lived in when my 
grandmother met my grandfather. I can look 
for railroad records for several members of my 
family. Other sources mentioned in this article 
were useful in learning about my family. But 
using City Directories proved a relatively quick 
and easy way to learn  and confirm  
residences and interesting details about my 
family. What about yours?  

Austin City Directories are a good thing.  
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Texas Department of Health, Bureau of Vital Statistics, 
Austin;; 23 Apr 1943 Travis County No. 19907). 
22 -1901 p217 and 1903-
1904, p266. The actual entries, just below the 1st line 
for an Edward M. Underhill, for 1900-
Edward M., jr. and Percy W., and L -4 
omits Lucile. The family knows when these children were 
born.  
23 Death Certificate for E. M. Underhill (Texas 
Department of Health, Bureau of Vital Statistics, Austin;; 
6 Feb 1904 Travis County No. 56876).  
24 p259 Underhill, p157 
(Mrs. Louis J) Holt;; 1906-1907 p279 Underhill, p169 
(Mrs. LJ) Holt;; 1909-1910 p275 Underhill, p169 Holt.  
25 1910 U.S. Census, Population Schedule, Travis 
County, Texas (Online Census Images www.ancestry.com 
downloaded;; original source: National Archives 
micropublication T624, roll 1595), Bessie G Underhill hh 
306 family 93 dwelling 104, 3rd Precinct, Austin, ED 76, 
Sheet 5A-B, 18 Apr, stamped p160. 
26 With no indication of the number of people in a 
household for these years, these children could still be 
in Austin with their grandmother Bessie. This is a change 
from the 1903-1904 directory where, as children under 
age 15, they were listed. 
27 -1911 p290 Underhill. 
28 Norma Stubbs Interview 7 July 1997, Galveston TX. 
29 Death Certificate for Bessie Gaines Lipscomb 
Underhill (Texas Department of Health, Bureau of Vital 
Statistics, Austin;; Travis County #22797). EM and Bessie 
Underhill are buried in the Texas State Cemetery, beside 

 
30 -1911 p64 Bagnal, 
p161 Holt  
31 -1913 p168 Holt, p66 
Bagnal.  
32 p222 Bagnal;; 1916 
p138 Bagnal;; 1918 p146 Bagnal.  
33 World War I Draft Registration Cards, 1917-1918 
(Ancestry.com. [database on-line]. Provo, UT, USA: 
Ancestry.com Operations Inc, 2005. Original data: United 

States, Selective Service System. World War I Selective 
Service System Draft Registration Cards, 1917-1918. 
Washington, D.C.: National Archives and Records 
Administration. M1509, 4,582 rolls. Imaged from Family 
History Library microfilm.), Thomas A Bagnal #4309. 
34 p460 Holt;; 1916 p258 
Holt. 
35 p689 Rowley;; 1916 
p370 Rowley 
36 The Majestic Theatre later becomes the Paramount 
Theater. 
37 Marriage Certificate for Clarence Alvin Rowley, Sr. & 
Mildred Gordon Holt (Travis County, Texas, Book 21 
Page 123), #152.  married March 10, 1917. 
38 p370 Rowley p258 
Holt;; 1918 p266 Holt, p377 Rowley. 
39 Death Certificate for Emily Underhill Holt (Texas 
Department of Health, Bureau of Vital Statistics, Austin;; 
19 May 1919 Travis County No. 19946). 
40 p359 Rowley. 
41 1920 U.S. Census, population schedule, population 
schedule, Travis County, Texas (Online Census Images 
www.ancestry.com downloaded;; original source: National 
Archives micropublication T625 roll 1852), Clarence 
Rowley hh/dwell/fam 1805/313/352 5th Ward ED110 
Sheet 14A, Austin. 
42 Interview with Alvin Rowley, 27 Jun 2010, where he 
identified these as Camp Houses. 
43 p399;; 1924 p393;; 
1927 p411;; 1929 p425. No directories available for 
1925-1926. The house number 4817 in 1927 is likely a 
typo, as Alvin Rowley states, in March 2010, they never 
lived at that address, only at 4810 & 4605 on Avenue F. 
44 On a recent visit to this neighborhood, Alvin talked 
about how things have changed but some of the other 
homes in the neighborhood are still there. Mr. Hegman 
used to live on the corner  that brick house is still there. 

creek the kids would explore. For 1930 census, this 
property was outside city limits, being in Precinct 43 
north of 38th street, which appears to be northern limit, 
and census did not include street addresses for these 
enumeration districts. 
45 This version of the story of the fire is from interview 
Alvin Rowley and Evelyn (Rowley) Hicks, 27 Jun 2010. It 
differs some from the caption on the picture of the 
house that burned. 
46 Interview Alvin Rowley and Evelyn (Rowley) Hicks, 27 
Jun 2010. 
47 -1931 p453. 
48 -1933 p409. 
49 1930 U.S. Census, population schedule, Travis 
County, Texas (Online Census Images www.Ancestry.com 
downloaded;; original source: National Archives 
micropublication T626 roll 2402), George A Rowley 

http://www.ancestry.com/
http://www.ancestry.com/
http://www.ancestry.com/
http://www.ancestry.com/
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hh/dwell/fam 408/63/67 Austin Ward 3 ED28 Sheet 
3B. 
50 -1945 p419 Rowley;; 
Austin Telephone Directory 1961 Rowley page. 
51 -1945 p74 Bagnal 
52 Nellie and Tom Bagnal and Mary Ellen Callahan and 
her husband, along 
Underhill, are all buried at Austin Memorial Cemetery, on 
Hancock at the end of Bull Creek Road. 
53 p549 Underhill;; 1937 p 
Underhill;; 1939 p618 Underhill;; 1940 p624 Underhill;; 
1941 p647 Underhill;; 1942 p632 Underhill;; 1944-5 
p493 no PW Underhill 
54 Death Certificate for Percy W. Underhill 
(www.Footnote.com from original Texas Death 
Certificates, 1890-1976 from Texas State Library from 

Texas Department of Health, Bureau of Vital Statistics, 
Austin;; 23 Apr 1943 Travis County No. 19907). 
55 Interview Alvin Rowley and Evelyn (Rowley) Hicks, 27 
Jun 2010. 
56 Directories for 1901-1904, 1907-1913, and 1929-
1945 are publications of Morrison & Fourmy, located in 
Galveston through 1904, in Houston through 1927, and 
Houston and Dallas through 1939. For 1914-1927 the 

Polk is the compiler. Stephenson published the 1905 
directory. These were found at the Texas State Library, 
Austin. There are also copies of these city directories at 
the Austin History Center and some on 
www.Ancestry.com. Some at http://texashistory.unt.edu, 
University of North Texas Libraries, The Portal to Texas 
History, credits the Austin History Center, Austin Public 
Library, Austin, Texas.
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http://texashistory.unt.edu/


  

Austin Genealogical Society Quarterly, 51 (3)	
    Page 141 

AGS 2011 Calendar of Events 
 
25 January, 7pm 

AGS Monthly Meeting, Highland Park Baptist Church, 5206 Balcones Drive 
 

presented by Jelain Chubb 

29 January 
Laptop Saturday, Austin History Center 

 

19 and 26 February 
AGS Beginner Classes 

22 February, 7pm 
AGS Monthly Meeting, Highland Park Baptist Church, 5206 Balcones Drive 
Find Your Family (and a whole lot more) in Historical Landowner Maps  

presented by Greg Boyd 

22 March, 7pm 
AGS Monthly Meeting, Highland Park Baptist Church, 5206 Balcones Drive 
Children: A Select Survey of the Records - 19th and Early 20th Centuries  

presented by Sue Kaufman 

TBD April 
   Bus trip to Clayton Library, Houston  

26 April, 7pm 
AGS Monthly Meeting, Highland Park Baptist Church, 5206 Balcones Drive 

lution  
presented by Stephanie Jarvis 

7 May 
Mini-Seminar Series, Highland Park Baptist Church, 5206 Balcones Drive 
presented by Paula Stuart-Warren 

24 May, 7pm 
AGS Monthly Meeting, Highland Park Baptist Church, 5206 Balcones Drive 
The Home Front During the Civil War  

presented by Teri Flack 

14 June 
Laptop Saturday, Austin History Center 
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28 June, 7pm 
AGS Monthly Meeting, Highland Park Baptist Church, 5206 Balcones Drive 
Genealogy Give and Take-Benefits for All  

AGS Panel Discussion 

26 July, 7pm 
AGS Monthly Meeting, Highland Park Baptist Church, 5206 Balcones Drive 
Special Event-  

TBD August 
Laptop Saturday  

 

23 August, 7pm 
AGS Monthly Meeting, Highland Park Baptist Church, 5206 Balcones Drive 

 
AGS Panel Discussion 

17 and 24 September 
AGS Beginner Classes 

27 September, 7pm 
AGS Monthly Meeting, Highland Park Baptist Church, 5206 Balcones Drive 
NARA Records at Fort Worth + More  

presented by Aaron Holt 

2-8 October 
Research trip to Allen County Public Library, Ft. Wayne, Indiana 

25 October, 7pm 
AGS Monthly Meeting, Highland Park Baptist Church, 5206 Balcones Drive 
From Behind Bars: Using Prison Records in Your Research  

12 November 
Mini-Seminar Series, Highland Park Baptist Church, 5206 Balcones Drive 
presented by George G. Morgan 

29 November, 7pm 
AGS Monthly Meeting, Highland Park Baptist Church, 5206 Balcones Drive 
Holiday Festival and Antique Roadshow  
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